THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

SEP - 4 2014

Edgar Warren Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. Supreme Court

Appellate Case No. 2013-001345

Gregory W. Smith and Stephanie Smith, Respondents,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc., Tom's Vinyl Siding, LLC, Lutzen
Construction, Inc., Boozer Lumber Company, All
American Roofing, Inc., Myers Landscaping, Inc., Defendants,

of whom D.R. Horton, Inc., is the, Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

September 4, 2014

W. Kyle Dillard, Esq.
(SC Bar No. 69408)
Matthew K. Johnson, Esq.
(SC Bar No. 12284)
OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH,
SMOAK & STEWART, P.C.
300 North Main Street
PO Box 2757

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's finding that the arbitration provision failed to meet the requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ignoring the trial court's failure to apply the Federal Arbitration Act.
3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's finding of unconscionability.
4. Whether the trial court erred in finding the arbitration provision unenforceable under an unequal-bargaining-power theory.
5. Whether the trial court erred in finding the arbitration provision unenforceable because no consideration was given.
6. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ignoring the trial judge's finding the arbitration provision null and void due to the doctrine of merger by deed.
7. Whether the Court of Appeals' "severability" analysis is inapplicable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The parties and their contract.

Petitioner D.R. Horton, Inc. built the house at 4830 Harvest Moon Court, Summerville, South Carolina. Respondents Gregory W. Smith and Stephanie Smith bought the house, executing a Purchase Agreement with D.R. Horton. (R. 147–156). The first page contains the notice required by the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act ("SCUAA"), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10–15-48-240:

THIS CONTRACT IS SUBJECT TO MANDATORY
BINDING ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE SOUTH
CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT.

(R. 147) (underlining and capitalization in original).

Section 14 of the Purchase Agreement is entitled “Warranties and Dispute Resolution.” (R. 150–152). Paragraphs 14(a)–(f) contain warranty information, including a Residential Warranty Corporation (“RWC”) structural warranty provided at no additional cost to the Smiths. (R. 150–151). Paragraph 14(g), the arbitration provision, reads:

Mandatory Binding Arbitration. [The Smiths] and [D.R. Horton] each agree that, to the maximum extent allowed by law, they desire to arbitrate all disputes between themselves. The list of disputes which shall be arbitrated in accordance with this paragraph include, but are not limited to: (1) any claim arising out of [D.R. Horton]’s construction of the home;¹ (2) [D.R. Horton]’s performance under any Punch List or Inspection Agreement; (3) [D.R. Horton]’s performance under any warranty contained in this Agreement or otherwise; and (4) any other matters as to which [the Smiths] and [D.R. Horton] agree to arbitrate.

- I. If the arbitration arises out of a claim arising under the RWC Warranty, the rules, terms and conditions in the RWC Warranty certificate and related materials delivered to [the Smiths] shall control.
- II. If the arbitration arises out of any claim other than a claim under the RWC Warranty, then the arbitration shall be conducted in Charleston/Dorchester/Berkeley County, South Carolina. The arbitration shall be conducted by an arbitrator or panel of arbitrators agreed upon by the parties, and to the extent possible, the proceeding shall be conducted under rules, which provide for an expedited hearing. The filing fee for such arbitration shall be paid by the party filing the arbitration demand, but the arbitrator shall have the right to assess or allocate the filing fees and

¹ The Smiths’ claims are necessarily related to the construction of their home and they have made no argument the arbitration provision did not cover their underlying complaints. See R. 7–22, 42–59.

any other costs of the arbitration as a part of the arbitrator's final order. The arbitration referred to in this paragraph shall be binding and any party shall have the right to seek judicial enforcement of the arbitration award.

(R. 151–152) (emphasis added).

Accordingly the parties agreed: (1) to arbitrate “all disputes between themselves,” including this dispute concerning D.R. Horton’s construction of the Smiths’ home; (2) the arbitration would be conducted near the Smiths’ home in Charleston, Dorchester, or Berkeley County, South Carolina; (3) the arbitration would be conducted by an arbitrator or panel agreed on by the Smiths; (4) if possible, the Smiths would be entitled to an expedited hearing; and (5) the arbitrator would be entitled to assess filing fees and costs to either party. (R. 151–152).

Paragraph 14(h) allowed D.R. Horton to terminate the Purchase Agreement before closing in the case of a bona fide dispute with the Smiths, subject to a 10-day good faith resolution period, written notice, and return of earnest money paid by the Smiths, thus making them whole. (R. 152).

Paragraph 14(i) contained a limitation of warranties, subject to the RWC and title warranties (Section 4), and imposition of an obligation on D.R. Horton to “repair or replace”² any defects as opposed to monetary damages. (R. 152; R. 148–149).

² “Repair or replace” remedies have been approved and enforced under South Carolina law. *See, e.g., Hitachi Elec. Devices (USA), Inc. v. Platinum Techs., Inc.*, 366 S.C. 163, 168 n.4, 621 S.E.2d 38, 40 n.4 (2005) (citing repair-

B. Procedural history.

1. The Smiths sue D.R. Horton.

The Smiths sued D.R. Horton for alleged construction defects and asserted claims for negligence, breach of contract, breaches of implied warranties, and unfair trade practices. They later filed an amended complaint and a second amended complaint. (R. 7–22; R. 42–59). The Smiths allege D.R. Horton “designed, developed and constructed” the house, that there were “various defects and deficiencies relative to the construction of [the house],” and that D.R. Horton was “negligent, grossly negligence, careless, reckless, willful and wanton in constructing [the house].” (R. 9, ¶ 9; R. 10, ¶ 11; R. 10–11, ¶ 14; R. 45, ¶¶ 11 & 13; R. 46–47, ¶ 16).

2. D.R. Horton unsuccessfully moves to compel arbitration.

Because the Smiths’ claims involve construction defects, D.R. Horton timely moved to compel arbitration. (R. 87–88). D.R. Horton’s motion was

or-replace remedy with approval, stating “Article 2 permits parties to agree to ‘remedies in addition to or in substitution for those provided in [article 2] and [] limit or alter the measure of damages recoverable under [article 2], as by limiting the buyer’s remedies . . . to repair and replacement of the nonconforming goods or parts.’” (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-719(a)(1) (2003)) (emphasis added); *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003) (enforcing an insurance agreement’s repair-or-replace provision, reasoning “[t]he cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties’ intentions as determined by the contract language.”); *Div. of Gen. Servs. v. Ulmer*, 256 S.C. 523, 533, 183 S.E.2d 315, 319 (1971) (enforcing a repair-or-replace provision in an insurance agreement), *rev’d on other grounds by McCall by Andrews v. Batson*, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985).

based on the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. §§ 1–307, **and** the SCUAA. The trial judge denied the motion because:

- (1) the arbitration provisions are allegedly **unconscionable “based on the cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions”**; and
- (2) the deed at issue did not contain the arbitration provision in the Purchase Agreement, which was purportedly extinguished by the **doctrine of merger by deed**; and
- (3) “the arbitration provisions³ **fail to meet the [SCUAA]**,” although the trial judge failed to identify any deficiencies in the arbitration notice or the arbitration provision itself, even when the Purchase Agreement contained an arbitration notice in underlined, all capital letters, on its first page (R. 4; R. 147);

(R. 1–4) (emphasis added).

3. D.R. Horton moves the trial judge to reconsider.

D.R. Horton timely filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend (“motion for reconsideration”). (R. 126–127). Before the trial judge ruled, D.R. Horton’s counsel emailed the trial judge about the Smiths’ proposed order. (Email to Hon. W. Edgar Dickson, Nov. 4, 2011, R. 214–215). The email’s purpose was to obtain clarification on two questions raised by the wording of the Smiths’ proposed order denying the motion for reconsideration:

- (1) Did the court find the entire Purchase Agreement unconscionable, or just the arbitration clause?

³ The use of “arbitration provisions” in the plural context is the root of many of the issues that have resulted in this appeal. D.R. Horton has asserted there is only **one** arbitration provision, found at ¶ 14(g). The unconscionability issues raised by the Smiths, the trial judge, and the Court of Appeals must be analyzed consistent with *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395 (1967), *i.e.*, solely with respect to the arbitration provision found at ¶ 14(g). *See*, pp. 36–41, below.

- (2) Was the Smiths' proposed order correct insofar as it gave additional bases beyond those stated in the original order denying the motion to compel arbitration?

The trial judge did not respond to this email and executed the proposed order drafted by the Smiths' attorneys and without clarification as requested.

The trial judge denied D.R. Horton's motion for reconsideration because:

- (1) "the relevant arbitration provisions⁴ are **wholly unconscionable based on the cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions** and that **the form of the contract seems to be that of a contract of adhesion**"; and
- (2) "the parties involved are **not parties of equal bargaining power** and there is **no consideration given in exchange for the sacrifice of certain rights** of [the Smiths] . . . and the provisions cannot be conscionably enforced against them."

(R. 6)(emphasis added).

Despite D.R. Horton's motion for reconsideration, the trial judge did not address its prior merger-by-deed analysis or its finding that the arbitration provision(s) fail to meet SCUAA's requirements. Further, the trial judge again failed to address the FAA's applicability.

4. The Court of Appeals affirms.

D.R. Horton appealed each of these issues to the Court of Appeals. (App't's Br. 7–24). The Court of Appeals relied on *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007), in affirming the trial judge's

⁴ See footnote 3 above.

unconscionability analysis.⁵ *Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 10, 742 S.E.2d 37 (Ct. App. 2013). The court’s unconscionability analysis, however, ignored whether the Purchase Agreement was an adhesion contract. Further, the Court of Appeals ignored the unequal bargaining power and lack of consideration issues, whether the Purchase Agreement met the requirements of the SCUAA, and whether the doctrine of merger by deed applied. Of all the issues appealed from the trial judge, the Court of Appeals only addressed alleged unconscionability due to “the cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions.” (App’t’s Br. 1, 9–11; R. 4).

The Court of Appeals denied D.R. Horton’s Petition for Rehearing just three days after D.R. Horton’s Reply to Petition for Rehearing was filed. D.R. Horton filed its Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, which this Court granted on July 24, 2014.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Unless the parties otherwise provide, the arbitrability of a claim is an issue for judicial determination. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). Arbitrability determinations are subject to *de novo* review. *Bradley v. Brentwood Homes, Inc.*, 398 S.C. 447, 453, 730 S.E.2d 312, 315 (2012); *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 22, 644 S.E.2d at 667. However, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed if there is any evidence

⁵ In addition, the Court of Appeals rejected a “severability” analysis that was never raised by the parties and was inapplicable in any respect. *Smith*, 403 S.C. at 17–18, 742 S.E.2d at 41. See pp. 48–49 below.

reasonably supporting the findings. *Bradley*, 398 S.C. at 453, 730 S.E.2d at 315. See also, *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., LLC*, 357 S.C. 91, 94, 592 S.E.2d 50, 51 (Ct. App. 2003); *MBNA Am. Bank v. Christianson*, 377 S.C. 210, 213, 659 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct. App. 2008). Even so, “the party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Green Tree Fin. Corp.-Ala. v. Randolph*, 531 U.S. 79, 91 (2000).

ARGUMENT

Because public policy favors arbitration, there is a strong presumption in favor of an arbitration agreement’s validity. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 387 S.C. 525, 531, 693 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2010), *vacated on other grounds by Sonic Auto., Inc. v. Watts*, 131 S. Ct. 2872 (2011). The pro-arbitration policy is particularly strong in South Carolina. *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 168, 172–73, 644 S.E.2d 718, 720–21 (Ct. App. 2007) (“[W]e are constrained to resolve all doubts in favor of arbitration”); see also *Towles v. United Healthcare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 524 S.E.2d 839 (Ct. App. 1999). Thus, a court should order arbitration unless it can say with “positive assurance” that the arbitration provision does not cover the dispute. *Zabinski*, 346 S.C. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118.

The trial judge’s and the Court of Appeals’ rulings do not reflect this pro-arbitration policy. The arbitration provision at issue applies directly to the controversy at hand—the construction and sale of the Smiths’ house. The Smiths have not suggested otherwise, nor did the trial judge or the Court of

Appeals hold to the contrary. Instead, the trial judge held the arbitration agreement is unenforceable for a variety of reasons, none of which withstand proper scrutiny, and the Court of Appeals improperly affirmed this decision. Indeed, the Smiths produced no evidence supporting the trial judge's finding. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision must be reversed.

Perhaps the most fundamental error by the trial judge, which the Court of Appeals simply ignored, involves the failure to apply, or misapplication of, the United States Supreme Court's holding in *Prima Paint*, 388 U.S. 395, as adopted by this Court in *S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Great W. Coal, Inc.*, 312 S.C. 559, 562–63, 437 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1993) (requiring unconscionability to be analyzed based on independent challenge to the arbitration provision itself, not with respect to other aspects of the contract) (the “*Prima Paint* doctrine”). The trial judge's sole comment on this issue is his finding of unconscionability due to “the cumulative effect of a number of oppressive and one-sided provisions.” (R. 4; 6). He did not further identify any such provisions within the arbitration provision at ¶ 14(i) of the Purchase Agreement.

The trial judge and the Court of Appeals also erred in their reliance on and application of *Simpson*. This error is evident in the Court of Appeals' recent contradictory decision in *Carlson v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 404 S.C. 250, 743 S.E.2d 868 (Ct. App. 2013). These contradictory applications of *Simpson*, and the analysis of unconscionability in general, reflect the improper application of law by the courts below.

Despite their similarities and mutual reliance on *Simpson* in analyzing unconscionability, this case and *Carlson* yield inexplicably different results, leaving in a quandary D.R. Horton and others seeking to provide for arbitration in commercial contracts. Under the facts presented in this case and in *Carlson*, the panel in *Carlson*⁶ would have found in D.R. Horton's favor in this case and, conversely, the panel in this case⁷ would have found against enforceability of the arbitration provision in *Carlson*.

In this case, the Court of Appeals held the arbitration provision unenforceable, "particularly⁸ in light of the lack of mutuality of remedy imposed by Section 14(i)," a limitation of warranties provision. *Smith*, 403 S.C. at 16, 742 S.E.2d at 41. By contrast, a different panel of the Court of Appeals in *Carlson* reversed the trial judge's refusal to enforce an arbitration provision despite numerous similarities to this case.

Both this case and *Carlson* involve efforts by a national builder to enforce an arbitration provision within a residential purchase agreement arising from alleged construction defect claims. Similarly, the homeowners in both cases argued the arbitration provisions were unconscionable and unenforceable based on *Simpson*, 373 S.C. at 24, 644 S.E.2d at 668. Further, although the Court of Appeals did not fully describe the home purchase agree-

⁶ Williams, H. Bruce; Huff, Thomas E.; and Konduros, Aphrodite K.

⁷ Short, Paul E., Jr.; Thomas, Paula H.; and Pieper, Daniel F.

⁸ The Court of Appeals did not specify other reasons it found the arbitration provision unenforceable other than the limitation of warranties at ¶14(i).

ment in *Carlson*, or the related arbitration provision, it is clear the panel in *Carlson* determined the “other limitations” were “not part of the arbitration clause and are irrelevant to a determination of whether the arbitration clause is unconscionable.” *Carlson*, 404 S.C. at 260, 743 S.E.2d 868, 874.

The differing results here and in *Carlson* must be corrected both to ensure that the arbitration provision between these parties is enforced to reflect the intent of the Purchase Agreement consistent with public policy, but also to give the public at large and litigants in similar legal disputes a consistent understanding concerning the enforcement of arbitration provisions, which a comparison of this case and *Carlson* will not provide.

ISSUE ONE

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s finding that the arbitration provision failed to meet the requirements of the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act.

The trial judge made no factual findings supporting the conclusion “the arbitration provisions fail to meet the [SCUAA],” nor did he further explain his findings. (R. 4).⁹ The Court of Appeals ignored this fact in affirming the trial court’s finding that the arbitration provision was unenforceable as unconscionable. The Purchase Agreement contained an arbitration notice on the first page in underlined, all capital letters and, therefore, met the requirements of the SCUAA found at S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a).

⁹ This same finding was not included in the subsequent order denying D.R. Horton’s motion for reconsideration.

A. The arbitration provision did not fail for lack of conspicuousness under the SCUAA.

The only imaginable basis for the trial judge's finding that the SCUAA was not met is that the Purchase Agreement somehow did not satisfy the SCUAA's notice requirement: "Notice that a contract is subject to arbitration pursuant to this chapter shall be typed in underlined capital letters, or rubber stamped prominently, on the first page of the contract and unless such notice is displayed thereon the contract shall not be subject to arbitration." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a). The Smiths' Purchase Agreement contained the required notice in underlined, all capital letters on the first page. (R. 104). Still, the Smiths insisted the arbitration provision failed for "lack of conspicuousness as required under the [SCUAA]." (R. 121-25). The Smiths provided no evidence to support the trial judge's determination and the trial judge did not identify any deficiencies in the arbitration notice or the arbitration provision at ¶14(g) itself. (R. 1-4, 147, 152).

1. A laser-printed arbitration notice satisfies S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a).

Perhaps the trial judge concluded the arbitration notice does not satisfy the SCUAA's requirements because it was not "*typed*" with a typewriter, as opposed to a computer and printer. Admittedly, this Court has required strict compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 15-48-10(a). *See, e.g., Zabinski*, 346 S.C. 580, 588-90, 553 S.E.2d 110, 114-15 (§ 15-48-10(a) not satisfied because no notice of arbitration on first page); *Soil Remediation Co. v. Nu-Way Envtl.*,

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