THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
The Honorable Edgar Warren Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate No. 2013-001345

Gregory W. Smith and Stephanie Smith,..... Respondents,

v.

D.R. Horton, Inc., and Tom's Vinyl
Siding, LLC, Lutzen Construction Company,
Inc., Boozer Lumber Company, All American
Roofing, Inc. and Myers Landscaping,
Inc.,.....

RECEIVED

OCT 06 2014

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Defendants,

of whom D.R. Horton, Inc. is the.....

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

FOR THE RESPONDENTS:

Michael A. Timbes, Esquire
THURMOND KIRCHNER TIMBES & YELVERTON, P.A.
15 Middle Atlantic Wharf, Suite 101
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

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

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, agreeing that Paragraph 14 applies as a whole and is unconscionable. Because this finding was dispositive of the outcome, the Court of Appeals declined to reach DR Horton’s remaining issues on appeal. (Appx. p. 319) (*Smith v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 10, 18, 742 S.E.2d 37, 41 (Ct. App. 2013) (stating “we need not reach the issue of whether the SCUAA or the FAA applies” and “we decline to address Horton’s arguments regarding unequal bargaining power, lack of consideration, and merger by deed[.]”). This Court should likewise affirm this dispositive

ruling. As discussed below, the remaining arguments asserted by DR Horton in its Brief are not preserved for review and should not be considered.

I. DR HORTON MAKES ARGUMENTS THAT ARE NOT PRESERVED

In *Camp v. Springs Mtg. Corp.*, 310 S.C. 514, 426 S.E.2d 304 (1993), this Court held that where the Court of Appeals does not reach an issue, an appellant must petition for rehearing asking the court to consider the issue in order to preserve it for review by the Supreme Court. DR Horton's Petition for Rehearing to the Court of Appeals only presented three (3) issues for rehearing, all of which related to the issue of unconscionability on which the court based its ruling. (Appx. pp. 320-341). DR Horton did not request the court to rehear and consider any of the issues the court declined to reach. This significantly affects the scope of what is preserved for review by this Court.

DR Horton raises seven (7) different issues in its Brief. However, "[o]nly those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court." See Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR (emphasis added). Accord Toal J., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, p. 77 (2d Ed. 2002) (a prerequisite to preserving an issue for consideration by the Supreme Court is that the issue must have been raised in the petition for rehearing to the Court of Appeals). Adhering to this settled rule, this Court must not consider DR Horton's unpreserved arguments regarding the South Carolina Uniform Arbitration Act ("SCUAA") (DR Horton's Issue One); the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") (Issue Two); unequal-bargaining-power theory (Issue Four); lack of consideration theory (Issue Five); and merger-by-deed theory (Issue Six). None of these arguments were raised DR Horton's Petition for Rehearing to the Court of Appeals.

(Appx. pp. 320-341). Further, these questions were not presented in DR Horton's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari either. This Court has consistently held an issue which is not raised in a petition for writ of certiorari is not preserved for appellate review. *See e.g., Southerland v. State*, 337 S.C. 610, 612, n.2, 524 S.E.2d 833, 834 (1999); *McCray v. State*, 317 S.C. 557, 559, n.1, 445 S.E.2d 686, 687 (1995).

The trial court's findings relative to these issues have become the law of the case. *See Transp. Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 692 (2010) (an unpreserved issue becomes the law the case). *See also Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Hous. Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 872 (2000) (an unchallenged ruling, "right or wrong, is the law of this case requiring affirmance").

With regard to at least the merger-by-deed doctrine, DR Horton's failure to preserve this issue is outcome determinative. The trial court's determination that the arbitration agreement was extinguished by the merger doctrine,² right or wrong, is now the law of this case. *Id.* This disposes of the entire appeal, because there is no arbitration provision to debate as a result. *See Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 116, 713 S.E.2d 799 (Ct. App. 2013) (*aff'd in part, vacated in part by Davis v. KB Home of S.C., Inc.*, 2014 S.C. Unpub. Lexis 3 (S.C., January 29, 2014) (vacating the Court of Appeals analysis of the issue of waiver because its decision on the doctrine of merger was dispositive)). In *Davis*, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding that an arbitration clause in an employment contract was extinguished by the merger clause in a subsequent employment agreement which contained no arbitration clause. This dispositive finding rendered it unnecessary to reach the remaining issues. For this reason

² DR Horton concedes the deed did not contain any reference to the arbitration clause in the Purchase Agreement. (Appx. p. 207).

alone, this Court could affirm the lower courts without the need to address the issues that are preserved for review.

The discussion on the merits that follows herein is offered as an additional sustaining ground should this Court decide the merger-by-deed ruling is not dispositive despite being the law this case. Because the evidence in the record reasonably supports the trial court's conclusion that Paragraph 14 applies as a whole, is part of an adhesion contract, and is laced with unconscionable provisions that cannot be severed, this Court should affirm on the merits as well.

II. THE RELEVANT TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE ARE FOUND IN "PARAGRAPH 14" AS A WHOLE

Setting aside DR Horton's problems with issue preservation, the dominating issue before this Court is the unconscionability of the arbitration agreement, which lies at the core of this appeal. In order to properly frame the issue, it is first necessary to recognize a key disagreement between the Smiths and DR Horton relative to the arbitration agreement, because the parties have different views of what encompasses the arbitration terms. The Smiths have consistently argued, and the lower courts agreed, that "Paragraph 14", as a whole, contains the applicable provisions concerning arbitration. Conversely, DR Horton's entire argument rests upon the flawed premise that only subparagraph 14(g) matters. Resolution of this basic question affects the remaining analysis, so the Smiths begin with this issue, showing the whole of Paragraph 14 applies.

A. Within the Purchase Agreement, the term "paragraph" has a different meaning and usage than the term "sub-paragraph"

The cardinal rule of contract interpretation is to ascertain and give legal effect to the parties' intentions as determined by the contract language. *Alexander's Land Co., L.L.C. v. M&M&K Corp.*, 390 S.C. 582, 598, 703 S.E.2d 207, 215 (2010) (citing *McGill*

v. Moore, 381 S.C. 179, 185 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009). “Where the contract’s language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract’s force and effect.” *Id.*; accord *Heins v. Heins*, 344 S.C. 146, 158, 543 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2001) (stating the court must interpret contractual language in its natural and ordinary sense). It is also a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous. *S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-03 (2001). In determining the intent of the parties, the court should construe the contract as a whole, reading together different provisions that deal with the same subject matter. *Buice v. WMA Secs., Inc.*, 380 S.C. 149, 156-157, 668 S.E.2d 430, 434 (Ct. App. 2008).

When referencing a whole paragraph in the Purchase Agreement, DR Horton used the term “paragraph”. DR Horton used the distinct term “subparagraph” when only a subparagraph was concerned. In the ordinary sense, “paragraph” and “subparagraph” have different meanings, and this is equally true in the Purchase Agreement.³

For example, Paragraph 4 requires DR Horton to convey marketable title to the Smiths. Subparagraph 14(i) cross-references “Paragraph 4” in this way: “EXCEPT FOR THE TITLE WARRANTIES SPECIFIED IN PARAGRAPH 4 ABOVE” (Appx. p. 156) (emphasis added). Similarly, Paragraph 15 contains a survival clause and states the

³ The Smiths have consistently argued Paragraph 14 as a whole applies, but have not previously made the precise point that the Purchase Agreement itself distinguishes the terms “paragraph” and “subparagraph.” This is of no consequence, because the Smiths are the prevailing party at this stage. See *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). (stating, “the ‘winner’ in the lower court may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court,” and confirming that the appellate court may affirm for any reason appearing in the record). It is not necessary for the Smiths to have previously made this precise argument. Regardless, this point falls within the same logic of the Smiths’ overall argument that Paragraph 14 applies as a whole.

“Closing Attorney is directed to transfer this paragraph to the closing statement.” (Appx. p. 156) (emphasis added). Paragraph 16 addresses various matters pertaining to the parties’ respective obligations for the closing, providing in part:

Final inspection and approval of the subject land and improvements thereon by the lender’s agent, the FHA, or the VA, whichever is applicable, or final inspection of approval for occupancy by the appropriate governmental inspector shall constitute complete performance by [DR Horton] of its obligations under this paragraph.

(Appx. p. 156) (emphasis added).

Paragraph 14 continues this pattern. Subparagraph 14(g) states in part: “The list of disputes that shall be arbitrated in accordance with this paragraph include” (Appx. p. 155) (all emphasis added). Subparagraph 14(g)(ii) likewise provides, “The arbitration referred to in this paragraph shall be binding and any party shall have the right to seek judicial enforcement of the arbitration award.” (Appx. p. 156) (all emphasis added). Subparagraph 14(a) follows course, stating: “The RWC Warranty referred to in this paragraph⁴ is the only warranty being made by [DR Horton]” Giving plain meaning to the words selected by DR Horton, the reference to “this paragraph” means the numbered Paragraph 14, as a whole, as seen with Paragraphs 4, 15 and 16 cited above.

More to this point, throughout the Purchase Agreement DR Horton used the distinct term “sub-paragraph” when referring to only a particular sub-paragraph. For example, Paragraph 2, which has several subparagraphs, explains the purchase price is

⁴ The RWC Warranty is referenced throughout Paragraph 14, including in subparagraphs 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(d), 14(g), 14(h)(by reference to the preceding), and 14(i). When subparagraph 14(a) references “[t]he RWC Warranty referred to in this paragraph is the only warranty being offered” the only logical conclusion is that the phrase “this paragraph” means all the references throughout Paragraph 14.

“to be as set forth in subparagraph [2(b)(i)(1) (handwritten)] below[]”. (Appx. p. 151) (all emphasis added). Likewise, subparagraph 2(a) separates itself from subparagraph 2(b) by stating, “if this subparagraph is checked, subparagraph 2(b) shall not apply.” (Appx. p. 151) (all emphasis added). There is more. Paragraph 5 provides, “If Seller is contributing to Purchaser’s closing costs pursuant to subparagraph 2(b) above” (Appx. p. 153) (all emphasis added). The plain language of the Purchase Agreement shows DR Horton used the prefix “sub” to address a subparagraph, like 2(b), or others.

This pattern continues in Paragraph 14, where DR Horton used the term “subparagraph” when a subpart applies, and “paragraph” when all of Paragraph 14 applies. Subparagraph 14(h) uses the narrower term “subparagraph” when it states, “In addition to the rights and obligations of each party specified in subparagraphs (a) – (d) above[]” (Appx., p. 156) (emphasis added). Subparagraph 14(d), excludes from all warranties offered by DR Horton, “(ii) those matters excluded in sub-paragraph (f) below[]” (Appx., p. 155) (emphasis added).

Giving these terms and phrases their plain, natural, and ordinary meaning, the term “subparagraph” has a different meaning than “paragraph.” It follows that when subparagraphs 14(g) and 14(g)(ii) respectively refer to “disputes which shall be arbitrated in accordance with this paragraph” and “arbitrations referred to in this paragraph,” the term “paragraph” means Paragraph 14, as a whole. On page 30 of DR Horton’s Brief, it implicitly acknowledges this point, describing 14(g) as a “subparagraph.” If DR Horton intended for only subparagraph 14(g) to control, it should have used the term “subparagraph 14(g)” as it did elsewhere in the Purchase Agreement, rather than “this paragraph” *Cf. 16 Jade Street, LLC v. R. Design Constr. Co., LLC*, 398 S.C. 338, 346,

728 S.E.2d 448, 452, n. 7 (2012) (the Canon of construction “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*” or “*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*” holds that to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another).

B. Subparagraph 14(g) is not separate and distinct and must be read in the context of all of Paragraph 14

Further, Subparagraph 14(g) cannot stand in isolation as DR Horton suggests. The various subparagraphs of Paragraph 14 all deal with the same subject matter, *to wit*, “warranties and dispute resolution.” Further, Paragraph 14’s subparagraphs cross-reference and incorporate one another and must be read together.

Read together, subparagraphs 14(a) and 14(c) provides the RWC is the only warranty being offered and that it will contain its own arbitration provision. (Appx. 154-55). Subparagraph 14(g)(i) expressly states that arbitration of any claim under the RWC Warranty shall be governed by the terms contained in that separate document. In this way, 14(g) requires that one look beyond it to 14(c) to determine the complete agreement of the parties on the very topic of arbitration. It is impossible to say 14(g) stands alone in isolation because it points to other sources for the controlling arbitration terms. 14(g) cannot be the end-all-be-all concerning arbitration under these facts.

Further proof that Paragraph 14’s various subparagraphs are related is found in the numerous cross-references found among them. A clear example is the RWC Warranty, which is referenced throughout 14(a), 14(b), 14(c), 14(d), 14(g), and 14(i). Subparagraphs 14(c), 14(h) and 14(j) simply address the DR Horton’s rights to unilaterally terminate amidst pre-closing disputes and directs the Smiths on how to notify of disputes after closing. These provisions all relate to the same subject matter, they cross-reference one another, and they are inextricably intertwined on the topic of dispute

resolution. (Appx. 154-55). Subparagraph 14(i) strips the Smiths of every form of recovery in any form of dispute, which DR Horton apply in the case of an arbitration under the RWC Warranty or otherwise.

These facts are similar to those in *York v. Dodgeland*, where the Court of Appeals noted the “reverse side of [Cristy’s] Buyer’s Order incorporated provisions further defining the scope and terms of arbitration, including remedy and claim type limitations. *York*, 406 S.C. at 76, 749 S.E.2d at 144 (emphasis added). The same logic applies here, where the subparagraphs of Paragraph 14 relate to the same subject matter and should be read and interpreted together. *Cf. Buice*, 380 S.C. at 156-57, 668 S.E.2d at 434 (noting courts should construe different provisions together that deal with the same subject matter). These points, and the distinction between “paragraph” and “subparagraph in the Purchase Agreement, reveal Paragraph 14 applies as a whole to the issue of arbitration, not just subparagraph 14(g). This leads to the next flaw in DR Horton’s argument.

III. PRIMA PAINT DOES NOT APPLY TO THE ANALYSIS IN THIS CASE

DR Horton’s argument turns on whether *Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.*, 388 U.S. 395 (1967), controls the outcome. *Prima Paint* involved an action to rescind an entire agreement on the basis it was procured by fraud. *Prima Paint*, at 398; *see also S.C. Pub. Serv. Auth. v. Great W. Coal*, 312 S.C. 559, 562-63, 437 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1993) (where challenge was made to an entire contract as being procured by fraud, but no challenge was made to the arbitration provision). These authorities do not apply here.

A. DR Horton’s *Prima Paint* argument is untimely

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